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residential customers?
A, No.
Q. And DERS is a certified competitive

retail electric service provider now; is that

correct?
A. Now, vyes.
Q. Okay. So most of the contracts that

we're talking about here are contracts between a
certified competitive retail electric provider and
consumers. .

A. Well, I think I better have you define
"most of the contracts we're talking about here".
Q. I'm talking about all ¢of -- all of the
DERS -- all of the DERS contracts, I guess. Don't

need to talk about what's excluded,

A. Well, as my testimony has explained,
there's different agreements at different points
in time. At some point in time DERS or its
predecessor was not yet certified as a CRES in
Ohio.

In addition, I believe we'wve had
discussion where I do not make the judgment as to
whether these agreements are CRES contracts.

In addition, some of the agreements are

between Cinergy Corp. One of the -- Two of the

##% CONFIDENTIAL #*##*
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agreements are between Cinergy Corp. and a
customer, and Cinergy Corp. as you've told me is
nct a CRES. |

With those caveats, I mean, that's my
understanding ocf the agreements.

0. You have several times dufing our
conversation raised the issue that there was a
time when CRS was not a —-- was not certified.

What's the significance cf your statement
in that regard?

A. Well, most recently you asked me whether
or not it was a contract between a CRES provider
and I distinguished whether or not that entity at
that time was a CRES. That's why I made that
statement.

0. You mean at the time the contracts were

signed?
A. Yes.
Q. Okay.
A. Because that's what you asked.

Q. Do you know when CRS started preparing
for its certification process?
MR. SMALL: Objection. Calls for her to
respond to what your company was doing.

To the extent you can, answer that.

w44 CONFIDENTIAL ****
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MR. COLBERT: To the extent she knows.
THE WITNESS: I do not know when CRS
began preparations for certification in Ohio.
BY MR. COLBERT:
Q. The market development period began

January 1lst of 2001, is that your understanding?

A. Yes.
Q. And do you know whether CRES providers
generally started signing up -- signing up

customers prior to that date and prior to the time

they were certified in preparation to begin giving

service January 1lst, 20017

A. I do not know.

Q. Do you know whether any consumer started
taking service from CRES providers on January lst,
20017

A. I have no personal knowledge and I cannot
think of anyplace where I've seen something that
would tell me the answer to that.

Q. Okay. Your third reason is alleged
discrimination; is that correct? That's C.

A. It's the regulatory problems presented by
the side agreements, including discrimination.

Q. Are there other regulatory problems

besides those listed that you had in mind for

*xk CONFIDENTIAL *4++*
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No. C?

A. I discuss them on Page -- beginning on
Page 68.

Q. Okay. And the basis for your allegation
that the contracts are discriminatory is that not
all consumers have contracts?

A, As I describe it on Lines 13 and 14, that
they're discriminatory in favor of a relatively
small number of large users of electricity. Since
those large users of electricity are those that
have side agreements, it would be those
individual -- it would be those customers that do
not have side agreements that would be the

opposite piece of the discrimination.

Q. Are you aware of any consumers that
sought service from DERS that were -- that asked
for -- for a contract that were turned down?

A, No.

Q. Do you know whether there are any

additional contracts besides the ones that you
have discovered?
A, I'm not aware of any contracts that DERS

or its predecessor had with any other customers

‘other than the ones that were provided to us.

Q. If you were to learxrn that DERS had had

wik CONFIDENTIAL #¥#*
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other inguiries subseguent to these and had given
an option contract at each request, that is, had
never turned down a regquest for an option

contract, would that change your opinion?

A. My opinicn of what?
Q. That they are discriminatory.
A. I guess what I'm having trouble with is

that you're giving me a hypothetical, I assume,
that there were additional offers made or asked
for and that DERS never turned them down to other
customers, and I have no basis to even think that
that occurred, given that everything that I see
about DERS tells me that they have no customers
and that the expenses asscociated with option

payments in their financial statements are related

to the agreements that were given to us. So I'm

having trouble making that assumption.
Q. Well, that's an interesting statement you
just made.

Did you do any financial analysis to
determine whether the option payments that are
contained in the various financial statements that
you've received from DERS are exclusively related
to the contracts that you've received?

A, You asked if I did any analysis. I did

##¢ CONFIDENTIAL **+*
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not do any other analysis. I know that in the
deposition of Mr. Savoy there were a series of
guestions in regards to what was in the financial
statements and that he was not aware of any

other -— My recollection is that he was not aware
of any other customers that they had other than
the agreements that we were discussing. So that's
the basis of my understanding.

Q. I'11 ask you the theoretical again.

If the basis for your understanding is
mistaken, if in every instance that -- Well, let
me back up before I ask that gquestion.

You made one other assumption. You made
assumptions that DERS offered these contracts as
opposed to consumers, customers, coming to DERS
and requesting service. Is that your belief of
what has happened here?

A. No. I didn't make that assumption. I
think in responding to your question I said either
DERS offered or people asked for. T assumed it
would come either way.

Q. Okay. I may have mishecard it then.

With that clarificaticn, if the basis of
your assumption is mistaken so that in each

instance where DERS has been approached to provide

s%+ CONFIDENTIAL ****
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a contract, it has provided such a contract on
terms negotiated with the customers, would that
change your opinion regarding the discriminatory
aspect of these contracts?

A. No, I do not believe so. I believe that
the side agreements as presented here are related
to the Post-MDP Service Case and for all the
reasons that I've discussed in my testimony are
related to obtaining generation pricing plans
proposed by Duke Energy Ohio that were acceptable
and in exchange offering benefits to certain
customer parties, and that those customer parties
as a result received benefits or economic value
that discriminated against other consumers.

Q. The final reason, Reason No, 4, is QOCC's
alleged exclusion from some negotiations by
DE-Ohic; is that correct? I believe that's at the
bottom of the Page 56.

A. Well, I think you've added some
commentary there, but exclusion cf the OCC from
negotiations, and a course of secret negotiations
that resulted in support of the stipulation and
the alternative proposal by parties who, due to
those side agreements, would not bear the burden

of the rate increases that were being proposed.

%44 CONFIDENTIAL ***+
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Q. Was DERS or Cinergy a party to these
proceedings prior to the Commission's
November 23rd, 2004 entry on rehearing?

A. No, I don't believe they were.
Thereupon, DE-OChio Exhibit No. 8 was
marked for purposes of identification.

BY MR. COLBERT:

Q. This is DE-Ohic Exhibit 8. It is'a side
agreement between CG&E and OCC dated May 8th,
2000.

Are you familiar with this agreement?

A. Is this the agreement provided to Duke
Energy Ohio in OCC's second response to the second
set of discovery ih this case?

Q. No. I confess I'm not sure what
agreement that was. This wasAnever filed.

MR. SMALL: Pardon?

MR. COLBERT: This agreement --

MR. SMALL: I know. But she's looking at
a document for discovery without attachments.
This would have been an attachment if -- had it
been provided.

THE WITNESS: Okay.

#++ CONFIDENTIAL **++
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MR. SMALL: Is that our document or
DE-Ohio's document?

THE WITNESS: Yes, that's ours.

I'm sorry. I miéspoke. I was thinking
that this was somehow provided in discovery;

BY MR. COLBERT:

Q. I don't believe so.
A, No. I totally —-—— I'm sorry.

Q. We would have if you had asked, but I
don't believe that -- '

A, I'm sorry. Could you ask the queétion
again, please?

Q. Are you familiar with this agreement?

A. I may have seen it at one time. I am not
more than generally familiar with it.

Q. Ckay. Do you recognize the cases,
99-1658, et cetera, as being DE-Ohio's, then
CG&E's transition plan case?

A. Yes. 99-1658-EL-ETP.

Q. And if you locock at Paragraph 2 on the
bottom of Page 2 and Paragraph 3 at the top of
Page 3, for various things then CG&E paid CCC a -
tofal of $750,000 pursuant to this agreement; is
that --

A, No.

#++ CONFIDENTIAL **¥*+
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Q. No?
A. I don't see that.
Q. I'm sorry. Two-hundred-and-fifty-

thousand of that went to the Ohio Department of
Develppment.

A, I don't see that it's to be paid-to oCC
and I don't see that it was paid. I see an
agreement that some contribution was intended to
be made.

Q. Oh, okay. Falr enough.

You're saying that there's no indication
here that it was actually paid.

A Right.

Q. Do vou know whether it was actually paid?

A I have no knowledge of that.

Q. Ckay. In Paragraphs 4 and 5, do you see
references to confidentiality agreements?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. Okay. And do you know whether those

confidentiality agreements were ever executed?

A, I don't remember. I don't know.

Q. And the last page, the agreement is
signed by Eric Stephens, who was then the Legal
Director of Ohio Consumers' Counsel; is that

correct?

#+% CONFIDENTIAL **+*



w -~ o N ol W N

=
LR X

11
12
13
14
15
l6
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

01403 Page 151

MC GINNIS & ASSOCIATES, INC.
614.431.1344 COLUMBUS, OHIO 800.498.2451

A. That's his signature and the title, vyes.

Q. And to your knowledge, were these -- was
this agreement ever made pubklic? Was it ever
filed at the Commission?

A, I don't believe it was ever filed at the
Commission. I don't know whether it was ever made
public or not.

Q. Okay.

MR. SMALL: Did we make that an exhibit?

MR. COLBERT: Yes, Exhibit 8.

Thereupoh, DE-Ohio Exhibit No. 9 was

marked for purposes of identification.
BY MR. COLBERT:

0. Handing you now what we're marking as
Exhibit 9, DE—Ohié Exhibit ¢. This is a Supreme
Court case that was --

MR. SMALL: This is a Supreme Court
decision.

MR. COLBERT: I'm sorry.
BY MR. COLBERT:

Q. Well, Supreme Court decision, that's
right, that among other things references an

agreement between DP&L and OCC that 0OCC, I

*#* CONFIDENTIAL ##**
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believe, has litigated in several venues.
Are you familiar with the agreement that

I'm referencing?

A, Can you show me in the order where it
references the agreement?

Q. If yvou look at Paragraph 17 on Page 3, it
refers to "...a separate one-page sidebar
agreement between DP&L and the Consumers' Counsel.

In that sidebar agreement from June 2000, DP&L..."

A, Yes, I see that.

Q. Are you familiar with that agreement?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And that was an agreement between

OCC and DP&L that was also not filed at the
Commission and was not made public; is that
correct? |

A. It was not filed at the Commission, but
it clearly was made public.

Q. When was it made public?

A. I don't know the initial date that it was

made public.

Q. Was it made public in 2000 when it was
signed?

4. I don't think so.

Q. Do you know was there a confidentiality

##% CONFIDENTIAL ****
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clause attached to the agreement?

A. I do not remember.

Q. Do you know whether OCC happened to find
the agreement sometime later after Mr. Tongren
left as Consumers' Counsel when looking through
its files?

A. No, I don't know that.

Q. You don't know. OQkay.

Thereupon, DE-Ohioc Exhibit No. 10 was
marked for purposes of identification.
BY MR. COLBERT:

Q. Handing you what is marked as DE-Ohio
Exhibit 10. This is several documents. It's an
affidavit of Mr. Jock Pitts of PWC with certain
attached e~mails, although I will note that the
e-mails, there are some, it has been represented
to us, missing pieces, because of the
confidentiality provision OCC -- or, OCC -- PWC
did not feel it appreopriate to reveal the contents
cf the discussions, but in these very cases QCC .
apparently held settlement discussions that both
eXxcluded DE-Ohic and other parties from those

discussions and made settlement proposals.

**+ CONFIDENTIAL, ****
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Were you a participant in those

discussions?
A. May I have a few minutes to read this?
Q. Yes.
(Pause.)
A. Okay. I think the gquestion you had is

whether I was involved in those discussions.

Q. Uh-huh.

A. I heard your description of the
discussions. While I may not be aware of them in
the sense of the representation that you've given,
I am aware that OCC had discussions with parties
about this case and that I at times Was asked to
participate or attend those discussions and, in
fact, as, for example, the May 13th, 2004 e-mail
was cc'd to me. That's my knowledge.

Q. Well, let's look at the May 13th, 2004
e-mail for a minute.

That e-mail, the subject of which was
"Csnfidential Settlement Proposal” sent by,
apparently, your counsel, Mr. Small --

MR. SMALL: It doesn't say that.

MR. COLBERT: I think the subject line
says, "Confidential Settlement Proposal”.

MR. SMALL: Doesn't say I sent it.

#%¢ CONFIDENTIAL *##*
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MR. COLBERT: I believe right below that
it says, "Sent on behalf of Jeff Small”.
MR. SMALL: On behalf of. Doesn't mean I

sent it.
BY MR. COLRERT:

Q. OCkay. On the "To”" line it has first
dboehmlaw@aol. Do you know who that might be?

A. I think it's Mr. Boehm.

Q. And who does —-- Who did he represent in
the case? _

A. I know he at least represented some of
the members of OChio Energy Group, OEG.

Q. Okay. And the next one is
drineboltRacl.com. Do you know who that is?

A. I believe it's Dave Rinebelt.

Q. And did he represent a party in the case
or was he a party in the case?

A. Subject to check of who represented who,
I think he represented in this particular case
Ohio Partners For Affordable Energy.

Q. And who are they? Are you familiar with
the group, what do they do?

A. I am familiar that they represent
interests at times related to community --

Q. Action agencies?

#++ CONFIDENTIAL **#**
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A. -~ community action agencies, yes, but

beyond that, I don't know specifically who they

~are in this service territory.

Q. Do you know whether Miss —-- the current
Consumers' Counsel, Miss Migden-Ostrander, was

prior to becoming Consumers' Counsel on OPAE's

board?

A. I don't know.

Q. Do you know who mkurtzlaw@aol.com is?

A, I think it's probabkly Mr. Kurtz, who's an
attorney.

Q. And do you know who he represented in

this case?

A, I know from my current involvement that
he represents Kroger.

Q. How about Dane.Stinson@Bailey-
Cavalieri.com?

a. I'm familiar with the name. I don't know

who he represents.

Q. Could it have been the schools?
A. I don't know.
Q. Don't know.

sbloomfield@bricker.com and I notice
tobrienbricker.com.

A. I know that Sally Bloomfield from my

44+ CONFIDENTIAL ****


http://Cavalieri.com

o 1 U B WD

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

01409 Pge 157

MC GINNIS & ASSOCIATES, INC,
614.431.1344 COLUMBUS, OHIO 800.498.2451

current involvement represents the Ohio Hospital
Association.

Q. Do you know who else she's represented in
this case?

A. No. But I believe earlier you asked me
if T knew whether she represented another party,
and I didn't know then, and I still don't know.

Q. You don't know if she represented the
Ohio Manufacturers Association?

A. I don't recollect.

0. How about the City of Cincinnati?

A. Without checking counéel of record in
this case, I really don't know.

Q. Okay. Dbroyer@brscolaw.com. Do you know
who that is?

A. I assume it's Barth Royer and I do not
know who he represented.

Q. mchristensen@columbuslaw.org. Do you
know who that is?

A. Well, I believe that Mary Christensen's
name is at the bottom with her e-mail, and that

she has represented People Working Cooperatively.

Q. cgoodman@energymarketers.com?
A. I don't know that.
Q. korkoszA@FirstEnergyCorp.com?

w44 CONFIDENTIAL **#¥
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A. I believe that's Art -- Arthur Korkosz at
First Energy Solutions.

Q. By that you mean that's who he
represented in the case?

A. That's the only FirstEnergy Company I
know in this case.

Q. nmorgan@lascinti.org, do you know who
that is?

A, I suspect the name N. Morgan stands for
Noel Morgan, but I'm not sure who he represented

in this case.

Q. OCkay. srandazzo@mwncmh.com?

A I assume that is Sam Randazzo.

Q -ricks@ohanet.org?

A, I don't know who that is.

Q Okay. OHA doesn't give you a hint?

A. I don't know who that is. I could guess

if you want me to.

Q. No, that's okay. You don't need to
guess.

A. Okay.

Q. shawn.leyden@pseg.com, do you know who

that was?
A, No.

Q. Thomas.McNameelpuc.state.oh.us?

#+# CONFIDENTIAL *++*
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A. I believe that's one of the Attorney
General's for the staff in this case.

Q. For the staff.

bakahn@vssp.com; do you know?

A. No.

Q. How about mhpetricoff@vssp.com?

A. I think that's Mr. Petriccff.

Q. Do you know who he represented in the
case?

A. He represented, I believe, the Ohio

Marketers Group in this case.
Q. And wjairey@vssp.com, do you know who

that is? W. J. Airey. I'm sorry. I said it

wrong.
A. No, I don't.
Q. And the rest of the names under the cc

column are all QCC employees, or were at the time?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And are there any parties missing
from the list that we've just gone through that
you are aware of in the case?

A. I'd have to go back and compare the list,
and since I didn't know what -- some of the people
who they represented, I don't think that would be

a complete comparison.
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Q. Okay. Well, is DE-Ohic there anywhere?
Do you see anybody from the company?

A, Not that I know that that's their e-mail,
no.

Q. All right. And so OCC was holding
settlement discussions with parties and excluding
the company from those discussions. Is that your
understanding? And maybe other parties.

a, I know from this e-mail that there's a
settlement proposal being distributed. I don't
know whether the company -- I don't know what
contact was made or not made with the company and
I don't know how those discussions occurred based
on what's here in front of me,

Q. Do you see any contact with the company
in any of these documents?

A. Assuming that none ¢f the e-mails that I

don't know are the company =~-

Q. Right.
A. -= no.
Q. And on the second e-mail page, which was

an e-mail from Denise Willis, who apparently is a
Case Team Assistant, the indication is that the
attached confidential settlement communication is

from Jeff Small. Do you see that?

*%% CONFIDENTIAL ¥#k*
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A. It says, "Please see the attached
confidential settlement communication from Jeff
Small in the above captioned case".

Q. Now, given your concerns about having
exclusionary settlement discussions and secret
negotiations, why would OCC exclude parties from
settlement discussions and why would they make any
settlement offer confidential? Shouldn't these
things be done in an open and public manner?

A. You asked about two or three questions.
You want to divide them up?

Q. Why did OCC make any settlement
communication and/cr offer ceonfidential?

A. I don't know.

Q. But it is youf position that settlement
discussions should be made in public and all of
the informaticn should be available to everybody;
is that correct?

A, I don't think I make that recommendation.
Could you point to that in my testimony where I
recommend that?

Q. Well, a criticism that you are -- you
appear to make on Page 56 is exclusion of the OCC
from negotiations and a course of secret

negotiations that resulted in support for the

##* CONFIDENTIAL ****
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stipulation and for CG&E's alternative proposal.
Now, apparently, in the case of your

settlements, you didn't get agreement with parties
that resulted in support, but it appears that OCC
tried; You could change it to exclusion of the
company from negotiations and a course of secret
negotiations by OCC. Wouldn't the same criticism
apply, -the same concern?

A. I think my clarification was where in my
testimony do I recommend that? I don't see that

in my testimony.

Q. I'm not asking about a recommendation.

A, Ckay.

Q. I'm asking about your fourth area of
concern,:

A, Well, my fourth area of concern, as you

look at Pages 62 through 70, discusses the
negotiations and the side agreements in this case,
the presentation to the Commission, which as it
says on Page 70, "The Commission was unaware of
the side agreements and any potential impact that
they may have had. Representations were made to
the Commission that certain things had been
accomplished™. |

Q. Right.
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A. And --

Q. Go ahead. I'm sorry.

A. No.

Q. Really, I didn't mean to cut you off.

Are you done?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. Okay. Even assuming, which, obviously,
the company disagrees, but even assuming all of
your characterizations to be true, that these
were —- these contracts were somehow connected to
the utility, to DE-Ohio, let alone to the case,
which we certainly don't think they were, doesn't
it seem a bit inconsistent to be concerned about
the exclusion of OCC and a course of secret

negotiations when OCC was engaging in the same

- practice itself and had, in fact, engaged in the

same practice over many years on many agreements
through different Consumers' Counsels?

A. Well, as far as your last statement, many
years and many Consumers' Counsels, I cannot
comment on that, that's wvery broad and not
specific, but in this ﬁarticular instance, to the
extent that you're saving that these are secret
negotiations, I don't have anything before me that

tells me whether the company was informed or not
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informed, subsequently informed, whether or not
settlement was provided to the company.

You've given one piece of information in
regards to this. So I cannot comment as to
whether or not the characterization that you're
making is correct.

Q. I'm going to hand you what's marked
DE-Ohio Exhibit 11 -- or, will be marked..

Thereupcn, DE-QOhic Exhibit No. 11 was

marked for purposes of identification.
BY MR. COLBERT:

Q. This is an interrogatory question
delivered to OCC in these proceedings asking for
all agreements, written or oral, et cetera,
including confidentiality agreements.

Why were the confidentiality agreements,
cral or otherwise, that we've just discussed in
this case requested by OCC of other parties not
provided; do you know?

THE WITNESS: Would you reread the
question for me, please? _

(Question read back as requested.)

THE WITNESS: I do not know. The answer
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was prepared by counsel.

MR. SMALL: I object inasmuch as we
haven't looked at any confidentiality agreements.
I don't even understand what you're talking about.

MR. COLBERT: The affidavit and the
e-mails that we just discussed referenced
requirements by OCC that parties keep confidential
the terms and conditions of settlement discussions
discuésed with them.

MR. SMALL: Well, it's not a
confidentiality agreement.

MR. COLBERT: I don't agree. I think
that's an oral confidentiality agreement, but if
that's the reason why it wasn't given to us,
that's fine. Just asking.

BY MR. COLBERT:

Q. On Page 58 of your testimony, starting at
Line 18, you say, "...the fundamental effect of
the side agreements was to insulate those large
customers from the rate increases proposed in the
stipulation filed in May 2004..."

Yet, during 2005— actually paid
more than the stipulation required, is that
correct, my reading of your testimony? Is that

your understanding?
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A, Again, I'm not sure of what the total
transactions were between Krogex, and some CG&E
affiliate in regards to that agreement. I know

what I've seen from the invbices that were sent to

. Krogex; and for some periods of time, at least

those that I have invoices for, payments were to
be made by Krogem to some CG&E affiliate.

I think you may have asked whether their

rates went up.

Q. I simply asked whether Kroge? paid more
than --

A, Okay.

Q. -- was required of them --

A. Than was required of them.

Q. -- had they stayed on the MBSSO. It's a
rephrasing of the question.

A. Well, I don't think [Kr&gew was on the
MBSSO.

Q. No, they weren't. That's true.

A. So I don't know whether they pald more or
net.

Q. In the first part of yocur answer, you
salid the only knowledge you had was various
invoices, et cetera, that you had received in the

case. That was the basis of your conclusions as
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to ‘Krogew.

A, Uh-huh.

Q. But you didn't really know because you
didn't know -- at least as I understand it, you
didn't know whether that information was complete
or, you know, all of the payments made one way or
the other during the course of the year. Did I
understand that correctly?

A, I'm telling you I only know what I have
from the information provided by DERS and DE-Ohio,
and that's it.

Q. So can you state -- Well, what is your
knowledge of transactions between the parties
regarding the other contracts? Have you seen
invoices and have you -- Well, let's start there.
Have you seen invoices?

A. I believe provided with Mr. Whitlock's
deposition subpoena were hundreds of pages of
documentation related to requests for payment and
payments made under the agreements. I know that
Mr. Duff and Mr. Ziolkowski processed those and I
believe indicated that they -- at least Mr. Duff
probably indicated the payments had been made.

Q. And did you ask and/or receive any

informaticn about payments made by those companies
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to DE-Ohio?

A. I think we asked some general discovery
about the agreements and their impact on any
DE-Ohic-affiliated company, but I don't have those
with me, but that would have covered DE-Chio.

Q. Do you know -- In that information, did
you reéeive any information regarding -—- regarding
revenues flowing to DE-Ohio from counterparties to
these -- to any of what you c¢all the side
agreements?

A. Well, I'm not 100 percent sure. I don't
recollect any description of revenues flowing from
any of these customer parties to DE-Ohio.

Q. Okay. Did you receive any information
regarding revenues flowing from DERS to DE-Chio?

A. I recollect that DERS made certain
payments to DE-Ohio related to provision of
service -- services related to their billing
system.

I also recollect that on DERS' financial
balance sheet at 12-31-05 there's both an accounts
receivable and accounts payable to affiliates and
to what extent DE-Ohio may be involved in that I
don't remember, but to be inclusive, that's what I

remember.
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Q. OCkay. And outside of -- And I believe it
came in the discussion of the income statements
and balance sheets you're talking about now.
Outside of the receivable adjustment related to
taxes, which didn't include any actual transfer of
revenue, are you aware of any revenues flowing
from DE-Chio to DERS?

a, Well, I disagree with your
characterization of the accounts receivable. I
think that taxes were part of that discussion, but
I'm not sure if it was complete, because there was
also accounts payable affiliates, but your
question is whether or not revenue -- I have any

information about revenue going from DE-Ohio to

DERS.
Q. Yes.
A. I don't recollect anything.

Q. Okay. The DERS contracts that we.
referred to as option contracts, you referred to,
I think, as option side agreements, those ~-- DERS
received an option from the counterparties in each
of those contracts, is that your understanding?

a, Look at Page 50 of my testimony. I
indicate that under each option agreement the

customer would take generation either current,
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continuation, or provide notice. The customer
gave exclusive options to CERS -—- to CRS.

Q. | Now known at DERS.

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Is the option payment amount in
those contracts less than the increase in the
market price approved by the Commission on
November 23rd of 20047

THE WITNESS: Could you read the
question, please?
(Question read back as requested.)
THE WITNESS: I don't know,
BY MR. COLBERT:

Q. On Page 59 of your testimony, you suggest
that the Commission should consider the DERS and
Cinergy contracts because DE-Chio's stipulation
was not supported by consumers willing to pay the
full MBSSO amount. At the time DE-Ohio had over
20 percent of its nonresidential lcoad switched.

Do you think the switched customers
agreed to pay a higher price with fheir new CRES
provider?

A. I'm going to have to have you restate it.
I'm missing what the 20 percent would have done.

I don't understand that.
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Q. Well, almost 20 percent of our load was
switched and we're presuming paying less than they
would have paid had they been taking service from
DE-QOhio.

A. You'll have to restate the gquestion. I
don't understand it.

Q. You seem to place an importance on the
stipulation being supported only by consumers
willing to pay the full MBSSQO amount instead of
gomething less. Why is that an important
consideration to you?

A. You're asking about customer parties
supporting the stipulaticon willing to pay less
than what?

Q. Well, I didn't say anything about

customer parties.

A. I'm sorry.

Q. That's okay.

A, I do not understand.

Q. That's all right. That's all right.

We'll move on.

Maybe I can ask it a different -- a
simpler, different way, actually.

Would support from customers that

switched be inconsequential because they pay a
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lower dgeneration price than other consumers?

A. No. I don't think that the mere paying
of less through a =-- through a switching is what's
at issue here.

What's at issue is those individual --
those customer parties, as I describe them, who
supported the stipulation, the alternative
proposal, did so in part because of the side
agreements.

The side agreements may or may not have
resulted in them paying less, but it's the side
agreements in total in relationship to the case,
not merely a customer who paid less.

Q. Has any customér told you that that's why
they signed the stipulation, because they were
getting payments from DERS?

A. No.

0. On Page 63 of your testimony, you state
that the option contracts use DE-Ohio as a profit
center while DERS reimburses customers on behalf
of DE-Ohio and operates at a loss. Is that a
correct characterization?

A. That's what it states,

Q. Yeah.

I'm going to hand you what we're marking

#++ CONFIDENTIAL *+++



€ ~1 oy B W NN

NN RN N NN R R B R B R g e
M s W N B O W W o~ s W N R o W

01425 Page 173

MC GINNIS & ASSOCIATES, INC.
614.431.1344 COLUMBUS, OHIO 800.498.2451

as DE-Ohioc Exhibit 12.

Thereupon, DE-Ohio Exhibit No. 12 was

marked for purposes of identification.

(Recess taken.)

(Discussion held off the record.)

MR. COLBERT: The parties have had an
off-the-record discussion at which they have
decided to unseal the record through the end of
Mr. Neilsen's cross—-examination in the deposition
this morning. Thereafter, the deposition will be
under seal.

MR. SMALL: QCC agrees.

BY MR. COLBERT:

Q. Miss Hixcn, I have handed you what's been
marked as DE-OChio Exhibit 12. As we discussed
earlier, you have an accounting background, is
that -- that's correct, isn't it?

A. That's my education, yes.

Q. And are you familiar with what this type
0f document is, an 11207

A. I recognize it for what it says, a U.S.
Corporation Income Tax Return, but I have never

dealt with such.
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Q. Okay. Are you generally familiar with
income statements and balance sheets?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. If you will turn to the third page
in, not double-sided, just -- Yeah, keep going.
There you go. That page. Thank you.

MR. SMALL: I'm sorry. We've got. a
marked Page 3. It's not that page?

MR. COLBERT: No. It's the page with the
"Combined, Combination Elimination, Adjustments
and Cinergy Corp."

MR. SMALL: Upper left-hand corner,
"Cinergy Corp."?

MR. COLBERT: Yeah, and "Consolidated
Schedules”™ right below that.

MR. SMALL: Yes. "1120, Page 1"?

MR. COLBERT: Yes, that's correct.

BY MR. COLBERT:

Q. This is Page 1 of the consolidated
schedules and on the following pages, if you'll
turn the page, you'll see income statements for
each of the separate then Cinergy affiliates. If
you look at the bottom of the page that is
Line 30, we won't go into special déductions and

NOL deductions and all that, but Line 30 you'll
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see where it says, "Taxable Income", and you'll
notice that some of the figures are positive and
some of the figures are negative.

Given your understanding of income
statements, would you agree with me that the
negative figures indicate a taxable income loss?

A, Having not seen this document and not
knowing what their use of a negative connotates,
in general you would expect that a negative or a
minus sign would be a net loss.

0. Would vou accept, subject to check, that
it is? I mean, we could get a calculator and --

A. No. That's fine. I'm just telling you
I'm not familiar with this document --

Q. Sure.

A. -- but in general you would expect that
to be the case.

Q. Okay. If you would, take a minute, there
are a few pages there, although I don't think it
will take wvery long, would you count the number of
corporations that have a loss?

A. Am I being asked to assume that the sum
of all the‘ones in the back are what's coming
forward?

Q. Well, I mean —-
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A, And that each of those represents a
corporation?
Q. Each ¢of them does represent a
corporation. Subject to -- The combined totals,

frankly, would be in the column marked "Combined".
There are some double-counting of numbkers through
various companies due to things like service
company allocations, administrative expenses,

et cetera, that's the eliminaticons ceolumn, but,
yeah, I'm just asking you to count the number of
companies that had a taxable loss. The sheets go
across the bottom. Yeah, the companies are

identified across the bottom, if that's what

you're -- I see one page somehow got cut off,
but..
- (Pause.)
A. Okay. Given that the document jpst says

Statement 5 and Statement 6, something's been cut

off and a whole page is missing --

Q. Here's the original.

A. -- I would assume that each of those
are —-

Q. That's correct.

A, -- individual corporations based on ydur
representation --
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Q. They are.
A. -- and of all the numbers, my best
estimate at a quick look is over 35 companies.
Q. I came up with 36. Would you accept th
subject teo check?
A. Subject to check, have a negative befor
them on Line 30 for taxable income.
Q. Okay. Fair enough.
MR. COLBERT: Let me have both of the
others. No point in prolonging this; right?
Will you mark these Exhibits 14 (sic)
and 15 (sic), DE-Ohio exhibits?
Thereupon, DE-Ohio Exhibit Nos. 13
and 14 were marked for purposes of
identification.
BY MR. COLBERT:
0. Trying to short-circuit this a little
bit.

Do you see the same types of income
statements here that you saw with the 2003 11207
A. Similar. I don't know that they're

identical.

Q. They are. They're for different vears,
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so the numbers are different.

A, I mean, I don't know if the corporations
are identical or not.

Q. They aren't. Corporations come and go,
so they aren't.

A, Okay.

Q. Would you accept, subject to check, in
2004 there are 44 corporations that show a loss
and in 2005 there are 417

A, Subject to check.

Q. Sure. You can keep that and check, so
that will work.

In Exhibit 13, would you turn to —- It's
the last piece of paper, but on the inside page.
It has Cinergy Retail Sales as the third company
in. It's next to Cinergy Capital & Trading. Do
you see that?

MR. SMALL: We're on Exhibit 142

THE WITNESS: Is that 20047?

MR. COLBERT: 2004. Yeah, I think it's
Exhibit 13. I'm sorry. It's the last page, Jeff,
just on the inside of it.

MR. SMALL: Second to the last page in
the packet?

MR. COLBERT: Yeah. 1It's got 433 at.the
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bottom of the page and a 12. 433 and then
Statement 12.
THE WITNESS: Uh-huh.

BY MR. COLBERT:

Q. Do you see Cinergy Retail Sales?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And do you note that it has a loss
there of -- I believe it's $25,2007

A. Assuming that those are dellars, yes.

Q. And do you see next to it Cinergy Capital

& Trading, Inc. has a loss of a little over $95

million?
A. Yes.
Q. Qkay. Do you -- Is it your opinion that

CG&E is the profit center for all of these
companies that are showing losses?

“A. No.

‘Q_ Okay. And you think DERS is distinct
because of the contracts that you call side
agreements; is that correct?

A. I thiﬁk that my testimony deals with the
option agreements and the side agreements and that
my testimony is that through the option agreements
DE-Ohio's treated as a profit center and its

affiliate operates at a loss. That's what I've
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testified.

Q. And somehow, though, that loss is
distinguished from all the other losses of all the
other corporations for which CG&E is not a profit
center?

A. . My testimony doesn't deal with that. My
testimony deals with the side agreements.

Q. On Page 65 of your testimony, you discuss
OAC Section 4901:1-20-16 at length and in wvarious
parts. Do you see that?

A. I see that.

Q. Okay. Are you familiar with
4901:1-20-16(G) (3) that prohibits affiliate
financial transactions that obligate the
affiliated utility?

MR. SMALL: With regard to this, maybe we
can -- I assume you're going to ask a series of
questions having to do with this porxrtion of her
testimony?

MR. COLBERT: Well, this one actually
doesn't. She didn't testify to (G) (3). I was
going to go through each part.

MR. SMALL: To keep the flow of things
going, I will state an objection to the extent the

answers call for a legal opinion, but she will
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state her understanding of these provisions
according to your guestions, and we'll just have a
continuing objection on this section of guestions.

MR. COLBERT: As we previously noted, I
believe we have a continuing objection on the
record regarding that. I just didn't see how it's
avoidable given that she has a sizable amount of
her testimony related to it.

THE WITNESS: Could you reask the
question, please?

.~ MR. COLBERT: Sure.

MR. SMALL: I'm not sure there was a
question pending. |

MR. COLBERT: There-was, but I'11 restate
it.
BY MR. COLBERT:

Q. Are you familiar with 4901:1-20-16(G)} (3},
which‘has to do with the prohibition of affiliate
financial transactions that obligate the
affiliated utility? If it would help, we can mark

as Exhibit 15 a copy of 4901:1-20-16. I brought a

copy.

Thereupon, DE-0Chio Exhibit No. 15 was

marked for purposes of identification.
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MR. SMALL: This is the entire section.

MR. COLBERT: Yes.

MR. SMALL: What portion did you --

MR. COLBERT: We're (G) (3) on Page 2, (a)
through (f).

THE WITNESS: I'm familiar with it im
that I have seen it, I've read it, and that you've
pointed out to me that it deals with financial
arrangements.

BY MR. COLBERT:

Q. Do you know whether any -- any financial
transaction involving DERS or Cinergy is contrary
to anything in (G) (3), (a) through (£f)?

A. I've done no investigation of all of the
financial arrangements by DERS and Cinergy —-- And
I assume by Cinergy vyou mean Cinergy Corp.

Q. I did. I meant Cinergy Corp. Thank vyou.

A. -- in regards to these rules, so I have
no opinion.

Q. = COkay.

MR. SMALL: Is this an exhibit or you
just handed it to her for a reference?

MR. COLBERT: Yes, it's an exhibit.

MR. SMALL: Okay. This was 15 then?
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MR. COLBERT: Yes.
BY MR. COLBERT:
Q. We'll get back te that in a minute, so
you may want to keep it handy.
On Page 64 (sic) of your testimony, you
discuss an e-mail from Steve Schrader to Greg
Ficke and Julie Jansen and referring to someone

named Phil. Do you know who Julie Jansen is?

A. No, I don't.
Q. Do ycu know who Phil is?
A. I recollect that in Mr. Ficke's

deposition we asked him who Phil was. I don't
remember the name. I believe he indicated he was
a board -- a member of the bocard, but I don’'t
femember which board.

0. A1l right. Would it help you if I
represented he was a member of both the Cinergy
Corporation board and now thé Duke Energy
Corporation board?

A. You can represent that. I don't think
that's what Mr. Ficke said at the time.

Q. Would it help your memory if I said his
name was Phil Cox?

A, I've told you what I've remembered.

Q. That's fine. I was just trying to help.
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